
29 August 2019

To:  The Chair and Members of the Cumbria 
and Lancashire Joint Health Scrutiny 
Committee

Agenda
CUMBRIA AND LANCASHIRE JOINT HEALTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

A meeting of the Cumbria and Lancashire Joint Health Scrutiny Committee will be held as 
follows: 

Date: Friday 6 September 2019
Time: 10.00 am
Place: Committee Room 2 - County Offices, Kendal, LA9 4RQ

Dawn Roberts
Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and Community Services 

NB: A PRE-MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE WILL BE HELD AT 9.30 AM IN 
COMMITTEE ROOM 2 TO WHICH ALL MEMBERS ARE ENCOURAGED TO 
ATTEND

Enquiries and requests for supporting papers to:  Daniel Hamilton
Direct Line: 07920 700299
Email: daniel.hamilton@cumbria.gov.uk

This agenda is available on request in alternative formats

Serving the People of Cumbria



MEMBERSHIP

Cumbria  (4) Lancashire  (4)

Mr F Cassidy
Ms H Chaffey
Mr C Whiteside
Mr M Wilson

Ms S Charles
Mr L Collinge
Mr S Morris
Mr M Salter

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Agenda and Reports

Copies of the agenda and Part I reports are available for members of the public to inspect 
prior to the meeting.  Copies will also be available at the meeting.

The agenda and Part I reports are also available on the County Council’s website – 
www.cumbria.gov.uk/councilmeetings/ 

Background Papers

Requests for the background papers to the Part I reports, excluding those papers that 
contain exempt information, can be made to Legal and Democratic Services at the 
address overleaf between the hours of 9.00 am and 4.30 pm, Monday to Friday.

http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/councilmeetings/


A G E N D A

PART 1: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS 
AND PUBLIC

1  ELECTION OF CHAIR

To appoint a Chair who will be a Cumbria Councillor representative for the ensuing year. 
The Chair shall be appointed by the Cumbria representatives serving on the Committee.

2  ELECTION OF VICE CHAIR

To appoint a Vice-Chair who will be a Lancashire Councillor representative for the 
ensuing year.  The Vice-Chair shall be appointed by the Lancashire representatives 
serving on the Committee.

3  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence.

4  MEMBERSHIP

To note any changes in membership of the Committee.

5  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Members are invited to disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item 
on the agenda which comprises

1 Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

2 Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.  (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

3 Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have 
a beneficial interest) and the authority

(a) Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 

(b) Which has not been fully discharged. 



4 Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.  

5 Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
the authority for a month or longer.  

6 Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge) 

(a) The landlord is the authority; and

(b) The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial interest.

7 Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where

(a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of 
the authority; and

(b) Either – 

(i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class.

In addition, you must also disclose other non-pecuniary interests set out in the Code of 
Conduct where these have not already been registered.

Note

A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil 
partners). 

6  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any item on the agenda.

7  MINUTES

To consider the minutes of the previous meeting held on 26 March 2019 (copy 
enclosed).

(Page 7 – 8)



8  RENAL DIALYSIS SERVICES IN LANCASHIRE AND SOUTH CUMBRIA

(copy enclosed). 

(Page 9 – 14)

9  UPDATE ON FRAGILE SERVICES AT UHMB

(copy enclosed). 

(Page 15 – 26)

10 RECONFIGURATION OF COMMUNITY BEDS WITHIN THE ACUTE 
HOSPITALS

(copy enclosed).

(Page 27 – 42)

11 STROKES SERVICES

(copy enclosed). 

(Page 43 – 48) 

12 DATE OF NEXT MEETING

To note that the date of the next meeting is to be confirmed. 



This page is intentionally left blank



Cumbria and Lancashire Joint Health Scrutiny Planning Meeting Notes

Date: Tuesday 26th March 2019

Time: 14.00

Venue:  Committee Room 1, County Hall, Kendal, Cumbria, LA9 4RQ

Attendees:

Councillor Michael Cassells Barrow Borough Council
Councillor Mark Wilson Cumbria County Council
Councillor Chris Whiteside Cumbria County Council

Other Attendees:

Gary Halsall, Senior Democratic Services Officer, Lancashire County Council
David Stephens, Strategic Policy & Scrutiny Advisor, Cumbria County Council
Hayley Reay, Policy & Scrutiny Officer, Cumbria County Council
Phil Woodford, Associate Director, Morecombe Bay University NHS Trust
Karen Kyle, Programme Director, Morecombe Bay Heath and Care Partners
Aaron Cummins, CEO, Morecombe Bay University NHS Trust
Anthony Gardner, Director of Performance, MB Clinical Commissioning Group

Apologies received: 

Councillor Charlie Edwards Lancashire County Council
Councillor Stuart Morris Lancashire County Council
Councillor Phillippa Williamson Lancashire County Council
Councillor Margaret Pattinson Lancashire County Council
Councillor Vivienne Rees South Lakeland District Council

A Chair of the Committee could not be appointed as the meeting was not quorate. 
Members agreed for Councillor Mark Wilson to Chair this meeting of the Committee.  

8. Better Care Together Work Programme

Aaron Cummins introduced the Better Care Together Work Programme item which 
includes their plans for the coming year. 

Karen Kyle talked through the paper and gave a summary of the planned projects for 
2019/20. 

7

Agenda Item 7



Members and Officers had a discussion about the various projects, of which the key 
points were:

 Recognising the importance of linking both physical and mental health to 
achieve health outcomes

 The potential impact of the Lancashire County Council budget cuts which has 
the potential to impact detrimentally on health and care services within 
Morecambe Bay

 Working with partners on public engagement methods, with the aim of 
achieving a citizens jury

 Promoting the community approach to health and the value of the third sector 
in making connections in the community for individuals

 Digital transformation is underpinning a lot of changes and want to get better 
at sharing the stories of what is being achieved

 Recognition that issues with stroke services need to be addressed
 It would be helpful if BCT could be more specific on the areas they would with 

to lobby

It was agreed that the next steps for the work programme of the Joint Health Scrutiny 
Board focus on the following:

 Community beds
 Ophthalmology
 ENT

The next meeting will take place in Autumn 2019. 

The meeting ended at 3.45pm.

8



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Lancashire Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust is reconfiguring and 
retendering the renal haemodialysis service, which is provided to more than 600 
patients throughout Lancashire and South Cumbria at seven locations (as well as at 
home for approximately 100 patients). 
 
This change is necessary to improve the availability and quality of care closer to 
patients’ homes. Many patients travel longer than the national standard of 30 
minutes to their nearest renal unit; some facilities are not fit for purpose or are 
situated in an inconvenient location; there are recruitment challenges at more than 
one unit which restricts opening hours; and the service is not financially sustainable. 
 
Feedback from patients and patient representative groups has informed the 
development of a new service specification.  Bidders will be required to submit 
proposals that recommend how they will meet the new service specification.  
Patients will be fully involved in this retender process and their feedback will be a 
significant factor in the decision-making process. 
 
Whilst the service specification does not prescribe the locations of the renal units, to 
meet the requirements of the specification the following changes are likely to how the 
service is configured :  
 

 In South Cumbria unit a new unit further West, in addition to the existing Kendal 
unit, is needed to improve travel times for Barrow patients. 

 The Kendal unit location and facilities may be relocated to reduce patient journey 
times. 

 The Blackpool unit currently situated at Clifton Hospital may be relocated to 
another site that is easier for Blackpool patients to reach and to provide more 
appropriate facilities for modern renal patient care. 

 The Accrington and Burnley units may be replaced by a new suitably located 
purpose built unit in East Lancashire. 

 The Blackburn service currently delivered in a porta cabin may be replaced by a 
new purpose built unit at Royal Blackburn Hospital site or close by. 

 
Health Scrutiny Committee is asked to receive and note this briefing, give approval 
for the retender process to proceed on the basis outlined, and agree to receive a 
further briefing when the retender process concludes later this year. 
 

 
  

Renal haemodialysis review 31 July 2019 

9

Agenda Item 8



2 
 

1. Introduction 
 
Lancashire Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust is the tertiary provider of renal 
haemodialysis for all patients in Lancashire and South Cumbria. 
 
Renal haemodialysis is life preserving treatment for patients whose kidneys are not 
functioning well enough to remove waste and fluid from their blood.  Such patients 
require regular renal haemodialysis, usually three times a week, for four hours at a 
time.  In some cases kidney failure is a temporary problem, but if kidney failure is 
established and irreversible then patients are offered a kidney transplant where 
clinically appropriate.  Whilst such patients wait for approximately three years for a 
kidney transplant they require ongoing dialysis. However the largest group of 
patients are those considered unlikely to benefit from, or survive, kidney transplant 
surgery. These patients require dialysis for the rest of their life and their experiences 
of care impact hugely on their physical and mental wellbeing.  
 
Renal haemodialysis can be provided in hospital, in a separate nurse-led renal 
facility, or at home. 
 

 

2. The current position in Lancashire and South Cumbria 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
More than 600 patients currently receive haemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis in 
Lancashire and South Cumbria, either at home, or in a renal unit at one of seven 
locations : 

 Royal Preston Hospital 

 Chorley & South Ribble Hospital 

 Westmoreland District General Hospital 

 Royal Blackburn Hospital 

 Accrington Hospital 

 Burney Hospital 

 Clifton Hospital, Blackpool 
 
Due to the way the service was originally set up, there are a number of issues with 
how it is delivered, including : 

 The national standard for travel time to dialysis is 30 minutes.  Some patients 
are currently travelling considerably longer than this every dialysis trip.   

 Some services are provided in locations that are either inconvenient, or are 
not fit for purpose. 

 There are problems recruiting staff to some services which limits capacity to 
care for local patients. 

 The way that services are currently provided is not financially viable. 

Our vision for haemodialysis is to deliver high quality services for 
patients either at home, or within 30 minutes of home, in an appropriate 
setting that provides a positive experience. 
 

10



3 
 

 
These issues mean that we are not able to achieve our vision and provide all 
patients with a good experience, and our ability to deliver a sustainable service is 
compromised due to excessive and rising costs.   
 
The issues relating to each geographical area are outlined in further detail below.   
 

2.1 South Cumbria 
75% of patients who dialyse at the Kendal facility experience  a longer journey time 
than 30 minutes, and therefore this service is not meeting the national standard.  The 
service is delivered by Lancashire Teaching Hospitals staff in rented accommodation 
at Westmorland General Hospital. 
 

2.2  Blackpool and Fylde 
The location of the dialysis facility for patients in the Blackpool and Fylde area is at 
Clifton Hospital, which is on the coast and so challenging for some patients to 
access easily in less than 30 minutes.  This location too presents ongoing staff 
recruitment challenges and as a result dialysis is available for fewer hours and at 
less convenient times for patients in this area compared with others.  
The service at Clifton is provided by Fresenius, a specialist renal agency, overseen 
by Lancashire Teaching Hospitals renal consultants. 
 

2.3 East Lancashire 
In East Lancashire dialysis services are currently provided in Accrington, Burnley 
and Blackburn.  The unit at Accrington is structurally inadequate, unfit for purpose, 
and does not provide a good patient experience.   The rent for the Burnley facility is 
prohibitively high and is a significant cost pressure to the sustainability of the service 
in this area.  The service at Blackburn is provided from a temporary portakabin which 
is an unsatisfactory environment in which to deliver care.   
The service at Accrington and Burnley is provided by Diaverum, and by Fresenius at 
Blackburn, both specialist renal agencies overseen by Lancashire Teaching 
Hospitals consultants. 
 

2.4 Central Lancashire 
In central Lancashire haemodialysis is provided from the main unit at Royal Preston 
Hospital, and a satellite unit at Chorley & South Ribble Hospital.   
The service in central Lancashire is provided by Lancashire Teaching Hospitals staff. 
 
 

3. Proposal 
 
In recent years Lancashire Teaching Hospitals has been undertaking a service 
review, and engaging with patients, families, patient representative groups and staff 
to develop understanding of what currently works, and what requires improvement to 
achieve the service vision.   
 
Lancashire Teaching Hospitals has recently received permission from NHS England, 
the commissioner of renal services, to reconfigure and retender renal haemodialysis 
in Lancashire and South Cumbria, in order to : 

11



4 
 

 Improve patient access 

 Improve patient experience 

 Ensure the service is financially sustainable for the future 
 
Patient and patient representative group feedback has informed the development of 
a service specification, which will be subject to a competitive tendering process in 
the autumn. 
 
The tender process will invite bidders to submit proposals for how the service could 
be configured, to meet the service specification, and achieve the service vision.   
 
Because the bidders will not submit proposals until later this year it is not possible at 
this stage to indicate exactly how the service may change.  However in order to meet 
the service specification and design a service that delivers the vision, a number of 
changes are likely to proposed, detailed below. 
 

3.1 South Cumbria 
75% of patients in the South Cumbria area currently travel for longer than 30 minutes 
to reach the Kendal unit, so this location is not optimum for the majority of service 
users.  It is therefore likely that it will be proposed that a new unit is provided further 
West, to enable Barrow patients to access the service within 30 minutes. The Kendal 
unit may require redesign to offer care that is currently only available in Chorley 
(Home Dialysis training) and depending on options may relocate a short distance to 
help achieve our vision for dialysis care.  
 

3.2 Blackpool and the Fylde 
Feedback from staff and patients indicates that the design of this unit currently 
provides daily challenges with limited isolation space, patient visibility and lack of 
equipment storage. As a result patients with infection or mobility problems are often 
unable to dialyse close to home. Furthermore patient feedback indicates that the 
renal unit currently situated at Clifton Hospital is inconvenient.  It is likely that it will 
be proposed that this unit is reprovided in another location within the Blackpool area 
that is more accessible for more local patients with better facilities.  Evidence 
indicates that relocating the unit to a more convenient location will also aid staff 
recruitment, thus enabling the service to operate opening hours in line with other 
units, so ensuring equity of access across the region. 
 

3.3 East Lancashire 
Patient and staff representative groups have expressed a preference to replace both 
units at Accrington and Burnley with one more suitably located, fit for purpose unit for 
those communities. Across these units there are also problems with limited isolation 
space and lack of equipment storage. As a result patients with infection or mobility 
problems are often unable to dialyse close to home. 
In addition to the unit for Accrington and Burnley patients, there is a plan to build a 
new unit at Royal Blackburn Hospital to replace the service currently provided from a 
porta cabin. 
  

3.4 Central Lancashire 

12



5 
 

Because the renal service at the main hub at Royal Preston Hospital and the satellite 
unit at Chorley and South Ribble Hospital are staffed by Lancashire Teaching 
Hospitals, provided in Lancashire Teaching Hospitals premises, and there are 
potential implications depending on the outcome of the Our Health, Our Care 
programme, these services are out of scope of the current reconfiguration and 
retender programme. However we would anticipate an improvement in the care 
afforded to Preston unit patients if this reconfiguration and service improvement 
progresses. Many patients that currently cannot dialyse closer to home around the 
region for a variety of reasons outlined above will be able to do so; thus relieving 
capacity pressures on the Preston unit where there is currently a waiting list to start 
dialysis. 
 
 

4. Next steps 
 
Prospective bidders will be required to respond to tender invitations from by October 
2019. 
 
Patients and patient representative groups will be involved in reviewing the bids, to 
assess how the proposals will meet their needs.  Patient and patient representative 
group feedback will be a key consideration in the decision-making process. 
 
The successful bidder will be notified by the end of 2019. 
 
Services will be reconfigured from 2020. 
 

Request of Health Scrutiny Committee 
 
4.1 Health Scrutiny Committee is asked to receive and note this briefing. 
 
4.2 Health Scrutiny Committee is asked for approval to proceed with the renal 

haemodialysis reconfiguration and retender as is outlined in this briefing. 
 
4.3 Health Scrutiny Committee is asked to agree to receive a further briefing 

following the conclusion of the retender process. 
 

 

If you have any queries or would like further information please contact  

Dr Mark Brady, Clinical Director of Renal Medicine and Consultant Nephrologist 
mark.brady@lthtr.nhs.uk 01772 524629 

Jennifer Gilpin, Transformation Manager Jennifer.gilpin@lthtr.nhs.uk 01772 522868  

 

 

 

13

mailto:mark.brady@lthtr.nhs.uk
mailto:Jennifer.gilpin@lthtr.nhs.uk


6 
 

 

 

14



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting 6th September 2019

Report Title Update on Fragile Services at UHMB 

Prepared by and 
contact details

Claire Alexander – Associate Director of Ops Surgery Care Group
Suzanne Hargreaves - Associate Director of Strategy & Transformation

Public Private Internal Status of Report
☐ ☐ ☒

For Decision For Approval For Information Purpose of Report
☐ ☐ ☒

Summary

This paper is provided as an update on a number of acute services within 
University Hospitals Morecambe Bay that have been identified as being 
fragile.  Within each section is an overview of the options being 
considered for each service; it is important to note that this is provided 
only to give an indication of direction of travel.  It is acknowledged that 
further work is required on each service; an equality impact assessment 
and a full consultation would be required on any service changes. It is 
worth noting that the services identified within this document are also part 
of a collaborative programme approach across the Integrated Care 
System (ICS) for Lancashire and South Cumbria.  

Recommendation

The Committee are asked:

1) Note the contents of this paper
2) Comment on the contents of this paper

15

Agenda Item 9



University Hospitals Morecambe Bay – FRAGILE SERVICES

1. INTRODUCTION

This paper is provided to Overview & Scrutiny Committee as an update on a number of acute 
services within University Hospitals Morecambe Bay that have been identified as being fragile.  
Within each section is an overview of the options being considered for each service; it is 
important to note that this is provided only to give an indication of direction of travel.  It is 
acknowledged that further work is required on each service; an equality impact assessment and 
a full consultation would be required on any service changes. It is worth noting that the services 
identified within this document are also part of a collaborative programme approach across the 
Integrated Care System (ICS) for Lancashire and South Cumbria.  

2. UHMB CLINICAL SERVICE STRATEGY

The 2014 Better Care Together Strategy is currently being refreshed in collaboration with all 
partners; it is anticipated this will be completed in the Autumn 2019 with a number of public 
engagement sessions planned.  Alongside this refresh there has been a review of the acute 
service provision across UHMB which has led to the development of a clinical strategy which is 
still in draft format and will be shared with the public alongside the Better Care Together refresh 
strategy. 

The ambition of this strategy is to ensure that hospital delivered in-patient care will only be 
considered when there is either clinical evidence of potential benefit from admission and in 
accordance with a patient’s wishes or when the resources required to deliver that care determine 
that it needs to be in a hospital setting.  We also commit to maximising our opportunity as a 
provider of acute and community services to ensure delivery of integrated care based on 
pathways which support delivery of care closer to home.  As our strategy develops we will 
consider which model of delivery is appropriate for each service to ensure high quality care for all 
our patients. 

A central tenant of our approach will be to ensure that whilst management of a clinical pathway 
may alter, it will continue to be provided locally wherever possible.  Whilst the Trust will continue 
to strive to deliver as many of their services as they can locally, workforce, quality and financial 
drivers may well determine that this is no longer possible and therefore in order to ensure 
sustained delivery of a these services within the BHCP footprint there may need to be 
consolidation and centralisation onto one of the hospital sites or indeed transformation of the 
service to a different model of care.  Any changes will be done in consultation with staff, patients 
and public. 

At UHMB we recognise the need to make significant improvements in the delivery of our planned 
care services; our patients currently wait too long for assessment and for surgery. Our 
commitment is to focus on improving our patients experience by a review and reorganisation of 

16



our services.  The Long Term Plan acknowledges that separating urgent from planned services 
can make it easier for NHS Trusts to run efficient surgical services.  Providing planned services 
from a ‘cold’ site where capacity can be protected to reduce the risk of operations being 
postponed at the last minute if more urgent cases come in; improves not only wait times and 
patient experience but outcomes.  There are also benefits to implementing this model on 
managing complex urgent care on a separate ‘hot’ site – allowing timely access to specialist 
trauma surgical intervention.

A number of Getting It Right First Time (GIRFT) reviews have been conducted across our 
services and evidence from those reviews support the concept of separation of elective from 
acute / urgent.   New models of systematised surgery are emerging that can transform quality 
while reducing costs; these are predicated on the redesign of clinical space; processes and roles 
to facilitate a higher throughput of patients and low cancellation rates.  

Within the draft strategy there is reference to the fragile services detailed within this paper and 
acknowledgement that due to the level of fragility they may require intervention outside of the 
strategy consultation process.  On all of the services discussed within this paper there is a wider 
collaborative approach across the Integrated Care System, as the fragility of these services is 
recognised/acknowledged across the whole of Lancashire and South Cumbria.

3. FRAGILE SERVICES

4.1 ENT

I. Overview
The ENT service delivers emergency and planned surgical procedures and treatments 
at both the RLI and FGH sites with outpatient clinics being delivered across 3 sites – 
RLI, FGH, WGH.  

Through the Model Hospital benchmark data the service has been identified as being 
an outlier in comparison to our peers for the cost of running the service. The current 
day case rate for the service is 75% we know there is an opportunity to achieve 85% 
therefore there is further opportunity in pathway redesign to decrease the number of 
patients requiring an elective admission for surgery. 

There is a collaborative programme of work on ENT being undertaken across the 
integrated care system, UHMB are fully involved and supportive of this work. 

II. Activity

RLI FGH WGH
NON-ELECTIVE ADMISSIONS 472 148
ELECTIVE ADMISSIONS 94 43
DAY CASE 612 627
OUTPATIENT NEW 3700 3517 1577
OUTPATIENT FOLLOW UP 3808 5360 2325

17



III. Workforce

Workforce is the primary driver for the fragility of this service.  With the current level of 
establishment and the requirement to provide the emergency service across both RLI 
and FGH; it means that:

 the consultants are very often the first responder when on call 
o There is no ability to sub-specialise due to the very small number of 

consultants spread across two acute sites.
o We are unable to attract ST level trainees due to deanery minimum 

requirements

RLI Establishment In-post Vacancy
Consultant 3 3
SAS 2 2
Specialty Doctor 1 1

FGH Establishment In-post Vacancy
Consultant 2 1 1 appointed from 

overseas
SAS 2 2
Advanced Nurse 
Practitioner

1 1

IV. Current Performance

Target Actual
RTT 92% 75.05%
Cancer 2 week wait 93% 98.8%
Cancer 62 day wait 85% 50%

18



V. Risks in the Service

 Workforce – recruitment remains a challenge 
 On-call service remains fragile and unsustainable as there is no prospective cover 

within the rotas
 Geographical distance and isolation between the two sites impacts of workforce 

development and the ability to develop consultant sub-specialisation.

VI. Options being considered 

The clinical team have taken some time to consider how the current service can be 
improved.  The preferred option is to centralise the delivery of surgical services onto 
one of the acute sites with out-patients delivers closer to home.  Delivery of the 
service on one site will mean a single tier of on call and will realise the delivery of a 
safe and sustainable service for our patients.  

4.2 Urology

I. Overview

The urology service is provided across 3 sites with emergency and cancer work being 
undertaken at both RLI and FGH 

The service underwent its first GIRFT review in the autumn of 2017 and there have 
been a number of interim visits the last being July 19 to map progress being made 
against the recommendations.  At our last visit we received very positive feedback 
from the review team in terms of progress being made.
 
We continue to work collaboratively with the ICS with the aim of implementing a 
system wide approach to the commissioning and provision of surgery for urological 
cancers in line with best practice and evidence based NHS Commissioning 
frameworks.

II. Activity

RLI FGH WGH
NON-ELECTIVE ADMISSIONS 923 295 1
ELECTIVE ADMISSIONS 219 198 108
DAY CASE 1567 1890 2314
OUTPATIENT NEW 1628 1388 1625
OUTPATIENT FOLLOW UP 4724 3166 2120

19



III. Workforce

Despite ongoing attempts to recruit to the service particularly at the FGH site we have 
been unable to reach a position of being fully established for many years.  The current 
gaps mean that we rely on our Consultants providing the emergency cover with no 
middle grade support. Whilst the consultant team have been accommodating to date 
this position is becoming untenable and solutions need to be put in place to ensure we 
are able to retain our current workforce.
  
RLI Establishment In-post Vacancy
Consultant 5 5 (1 on sick leave) 0
SAS 2 2 0
Associate Specialist 1 1 0

FGH Establishment In-post Vacancy
Trust Consultant 1 1 0
SAS 3 *1 2
Locum middle 
grade

1

*the SAS doctor that is currently in post has been recruited from overseas and is 
currently supernumerary working alongside the service clinical lead.

IV. Current Performance

Performance within the service 
Target Actual

RTT 92% 84.33%
Cancer 2 week wait 93% 96.7%
Cancer 62 day wait 85% 62.96%

20



V. Service Improvements

There is a significant amount of work being undertaken across the service which 
includes:

 Improving the utilisation of the current capacity through efficiency and 
productivity planning 

 Improving and reducing ‘did not attend’ (DNA) rates
 Improving new outpatient clinic to follow up ratios in line with the GIRFT 

recommendations
 Pathway improvements for patients on a cancer pathway
 Development and implementation of a new haematuria clinic

VI. Options being considered

To ensure the delivery of a safe and sustainable Urology service for the patients of 
Morecambe Bay and South Lakes, our clinicians, supported by our management team 
propose that all out of hours emergency Urology patients be admitted to the RLI site.  
This will mean that any patients presenting with emergency urological problems to the 
Emergency department at FGH or the urgent care centre at WGH will have their 
immediate problems treated and if required will be transferred to RLI for admission,  
Those who do not require admission will be asked to return to an urgent urology 
review clinic.   Emergency admissions will continue to be accepted at the FGH site 
Monday to Friday between the hours of 08:30 – 17:30. There will be very clear 
pathways in place.   

New outpatient and follow up clinics along with elective surgery will continue to be 
provided at FGH and WGH.   

4.3 Ophthalmology

I. Overview

Currently all Ophthalmology services are delivered across FGH, RLI and WGH with 
the exception of:

 Medical Retina service, which is delivered in WGH and RLI
 Age related macular degeneration  (AMD) which is delivered at WGH

With the recent loss of day case theatres in RLI (Feb 2019)  the team needed to 
maintain service and support patients care and thus looked to transferring cataract 
surgery to available high quality accommodation on the Westmorland site. This 
equated to the transfer of 6.5 cataract lists per week (1 oculoplastic theatre list per 
week remains in Lancaster) to WGH to continue to provide the service. This was 
successfully achieved going live on the 1st April 2019.

To date we are delighted to say that we have received no complaints or concerns from 
patients or staff as a result of the transfer of location. 

21



The Westmorland Surgical Centre does not currently have the required facilities to 
support General Anaesthetic supported ophthalmology lists.  All patients requiring a 
General Anaesthetic from the Lancaster and Kendal area are currently booked in our 
main theatre suite in Westmorland General Hospital. Patients with complex 
comorbidities (and thus requiring higher level of support) are being booked into 
Furness General Hospital where there is ITU support if this were required.  

II. Activity

RLI FGH WGH
NON-ELECTIVE ADMISSIONS 17 14
ELECTIVE ADMISSIONS 23 6 11
DAY CASE 968 1635 1430
OUTPATIENT NEW 7838 4792 3703
OUTPATIENT FOLLOW UP 20837 9675 17759

III. Workforce

The current Ophthalmology out of hours on call service is extremely fragile due to 
workforce issues resulting in a risk to its sustainability and ability to safely provide out 
of hours cover. The rota is a consultant delivered rota with a scheduled frequency of 
1:9, however due to consultant vacancy; sickness and restricted practice the on call 
rota currently runs at 1:6. There is a significant risk that this will reduce further to 1:5.

CROSS BAY Establishment In-post Vacancy
Consultant 10 *9 1
SAS 13 10 3
Specialty Doctor
*within the 9 consultants in post there are 2 consultants who are unable to provide 
overnight on call provision due to ill health.

IV. Current performance

Target Actual
RTT 92% 70.6%

Average waits for 1st appointment – 7.6 weeks

22



V. Service improvements

There are a significant number of service improvements being made to ensure we are 
able to treat our patients as quickly as possible.  A number are listed below:

 Nurses have been trained to perform eye injections which releases medical 
time to see the more urgent and complex patients

 We will be extending the macular unit at WGH from a 4 day to a 5 day service 
from November.

 We are working with our local optometrists on pathways for low risk glaucoma 
to be seen and assessed in the community.

 We are working with the independent sector to ensure additional capacity for 
our patients requiring surgery.

VI. Options being considered

As part of the Better Care Together Strategy and aligned with proposals within our 
draft clinical service strategy we are looking to the development of a Centre of 
Excellence for a Ophthalmology which will be located at Westmorland General 
Hospital.  Evidence from other Trusts demonstrates that a single site Centre of 
Excellence offer both improved patient experience and increased productivity.  Focus 
group events have been held to seek the views of our local communities and users of 
the service. 

A proposal is being considered which releases the consultant sessions from the ‘on-
call’ rota; this will have a positive impact on:

 Providing additional sessions to reduce the waiting time for new and follow up 
patients

 Recruitment.
 

23



5. Paediatric Surgery 

The trust currently offers Paediatric Surgery for General Surgery, Ophthalmology, ENT, Oral/max 
FACS, orthodontics and Trauma and Orthopaedics.

5.1 Paediatric General Surgery

Currently the paediatric general surgery service is provided from FGH and RLI and is 
delivered by two consultants.

Consultant Establishment 
in PA’s

RLI 1.25 
FGH 0 

The service predominantly undertakes elective procedures such as: orchidopexy, 
circumcision, examinations under anaesthetic, toe nail removals, hernia repair and 
excisions. Whilst an emergency service is provided for patients meeting the criteria 
(based on weight, size and age,) complex emergencies would be transferred to the 
appropriate tertiary centre.

The FGH service is delivered on an ad hoc basis with no sessions currently in baseline 
PA’s. The job plans and rota are however under review with plans for the paediatric 
service to be moved into baseline activity. The recently refreshed capacity and demand 
model has informed this, demonstrating the need for 2 x outpatient clinics across a six 
week job plan giving twelve slots per clinic compromising of six new and six follow up and 
1 x paediatric theatre session in the same period to accommodate conversion rates to 
surgery. 

The RLI service has outpatient sessions in baseline however the theatres sessions are 
managed and flexed to meet demand. The consultant delivering this service will be 
retiring in the next 18 months; therefore a hub and spoke model delivered by Royal 
Manchester Children’s Hospital (RMCH) is in design. A visit has taken place at the RLI 
site by the RMCH clinical lead and business manager, with the next steps being sharing 
the finalised data and developing the SLA. Should these be agreed, the service at RLI will 
begin transition to RMCH from April 2020 with the final handover being the end of March 
2021.

The data below gives the current waiting list size for both inpatient and outpatients and is 
broken down further by consultant and site.

New Follow up Total
Total outpatient  
waiting list

26 164 190

Total inpatient waiting list 
(RTT/Non RTT)

46

24



5.2    Paediatric Ophthalmology 

Paediatric outpatient clinics are provided on all 3 sites with 5.5 clinics per week with 8 
patients seen in each clinic. 

We currently provide a paediatric ophthalmology theatre session on the FGH site.  
Patients are predominantly referred for consultation regarding squints and refraction 
treatment, usually in the form of a prescription for spectacles.

For patients requiring theatre procedures, we offer 2 theatre sessions per month and have 
one dedicated clinician with another clinician in support.
 
Our waiting list for paediatric procedures currently stand at 16 patients with the longest 
wait at 23 weeks and thus not meeting our RTT target.  

Capacity and demand modelling is currently captured through the general Ophthalmology 
C&D planning. 

5.3 Trauma and Orthopaedics 

Paediatric Trauma and Orthopaedic surgery is provided at the Royal Lancaster Infirmary. 
In July 2019 the service were pleased to report that a T&O surgeon will now be dedicated 
to paediatric surgery and has theatre capacity every Monday.  A visiting consultant from 
Alder Hey also attends weekly and provides joint clinics with our consultant to share and 
support cases. Paediatric outpatient clinics are provided across all 3 sites to ensure the 
offer of a local service.
  
Our current waiting time for a new outpatient appointment is at 9 weeks, however with the 
newly established service this is now forecasted to deliver improved waiting times 
especially at the Furness General Hospital.   The service is now adequately resourced. 

OP IP
RLI 130 36
FGH 60 10

25



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e

Date of Meeting September 2019 
Title Cumbria Health Scrutiny Meeting
Report of Service Offer Review – Step-up and Step-down Beds, South 

Cumbria
Prepared by and 
contact details

Lucy Alcock, Project Manager, UHMB 
lucy.alcock@mbht.nhs.uk, 01524 519388, 07813 433256
Public Private Internal 
☐ ☐ ☐

Status of Report 

For Decision For Assurance For Information  Purpose of 
Report ☐ ☒ ☒

Summary  The paper provides an update on the progress so far of the 
Service Offer Review on the Step-up and Step-down Beds in 
South Cumbria and includes a patient facing engagement 
document. We will embark on a public engagement period from 
2nd September to the 31st October 2019. The paper also details 
broader timescales for the project.  

Recommendation The Committee acknowledges the progress made in the 
engagement work so far. 

Links to 
Corporate 
objectives
Links to Strategic 
and Clinical 
Risks

Delete Yes or No as appropriate Yes No
Quality and Safety
Legal
Financial
Human Resources
Equality and Diversity
Engagement and Communication

Impact 

If yes, please give additional 
information

Reports 
previously 
considered by 

27

Agenda Item 10

mailto:lucy.alcock@mbht.nhs.uk


2 | P a g e

Service Offer Review – Step-up and Step-down Beds, South Cumbria 

Introduction
This document provides a progress update on the review of the current service offer 
of step-up/step-down beds at Abbey View on the Furness General site and the 
Langdale units on the Westmorland General site. The paper includes timescales for 
public and staff engagement.

Background
In total there are 52 step-up and step-down beds open between the Langdale units 
at Westmorland General Hospital and Abbey View at Furness General serving a total 
population of 198,512 people in South Cumbria. 

While both sites were commissioned with the same specification (Community 
Inpatient Beds Service Specification, April 2009-March 2012), they operate 
differently. This is primarily due to Abbey View being co-located on an acute hospital 
site and being predominantly step down from the acute wards. Minimal step up 
capability is utilised through A&E at FGH and there is no step up capability from the 
community. 
Both units have seen ‘drift’ from the spec in the following areas:

 Increase in GP referrals and admission prior to the weekend, despite not all 
patients having a bed based service need

 Social admissions/ delayed discharges - at point of NWUM review, 55% i.e. 
11 of the 20 current inpatients were deemed to no longer require a bed at 
Abbey View 

 ‘Acute ward’ layout on Langdales not conducive to delivering a ‘reabling’ 
philosophy

The units also face the following long standing challenges on staffing and skill mix:
 Staffing wards that provide mix of sub-acute care alongside those who require 

a ‘reabling’ approach. 
 Long standing staffing shortages mean that only 28 beds are fully utilised on 

Langdales North & South – service is commissioned for 46 beds (Number of 
beds satisfies current demand but leads to under-utilisation costs) 

Updated Current Position 
Since the update to Overview and Scrutiny in March 2019, an Equality Impact 
Assessment has been initiated to identify groups and stakeholders to engage with. 
This is an ongoing activity and will continue throughout the engagement process. 

A working group has developed a public facing engagement document that will be 
shared with patients, public and staff which:

 Asks patients and public ‘where would you like to be cared for?’
 Describes instability of staffing levels, findings from NWUM report and patient 

experience from the units.
 Explains alternative care models used around UK so people have examples 

to aid understanding and to generate ideas.

In order to share the document and engage with the population across South 
Cumbria an engagement plan is being developed that will include:

28



3 | P a g e

 Sharing the engagement document across primary, secondary, community 
and social care requesting wider dissemination to patients and public. 

 Host engagement document and accompanying survey on Healthier 
Lancashire and South Cumbria’s Morecambe Bay microsite with publicity 
directing public to the site.

 Presenting to community groups and Integrated Care Communities
 Drop in events across South Cumbria 
 Surveys for all staff (across health and social care), patients and public. 

The engagement period will run from 2nd September to the 31st October 2019. 

All responses from the engagement period will be analysed and used to create an 
options paper that will be developed by the end of November 2019. It is anticipated 
that the options paper will go to Joint Overview & Scrutiny Committee in December 
with the potential of going out to consultation depending on the options proposed. 

29



This page is intentionally left blank



Where would you 
like to be cared 
for? 
South Lakes & Furness Patient 
Engagement Document 

31



What is this engagement document about? 
The health and care system in Morecambe Bay faces a number of challenges in 
delivering certain types of care. This document describes these challenges and 
describes the ways you can be involved to give us feedback on where you and your 
relatives would like to be cared for now and in the future.  

The type of care we would particularly like your views on is “Step-Up” and “Step-
Down” care within South Cumbria. This document explains what this means and also 
describes different models of this type of care to give you an idea of what is possible. 
Within Morecambe Bay, Step-Up and Step-Down care in South Cumbria is provided 
in ward facilities at three sites, Abbey View on the site of Furness General Hospital in 
Barrow, the Langdale units on the site of Westmorland General Hospital in Kendal 
and nine beds at Millom Hospital.  

What is Step-Up and Step-Down Care? 
Step-Up care provides nursing or therapy support for someone who is unable to 
safely remain in their own home without some care but where residential care or an 
acute hospital admission is not immediately necessary. Step-Up Care is only 
intended to be a short term solution until it’s safe to go home.

Patients are stepped-up from home because:
 They have an infection or fallen and may need some extra nursing support 

because they’re unable to look after themselves, especially during the night. 
The rehabilitation ward will support them to regain their independence to 
return home. 

 They need end-of-life care. The unit can look after them in the last days of life 
if someone is unable or chooses not to be cared for at home.

Step-Down care happens when someone has spent time in hospital and no longer 
needs the level of care given on a hospital ward but needs a higher level of support 
than can be given at home currently. 

Patients are stepped-down from an acute hospital bed because:
 They may have been in hospital for surgery and need to rehabilitate before it’s 

safe for them to go home. The ward staff including Nurses, Physio, 
Occupational Therapist and Social Worker will support them.

Abbey View, Langdale Units and Millom Hospital 
In total there are 61 Step-Up and Step-Down beds open between the Langdale units 
at Westmorland General Hospital, Abbey View at Furness General and Millom 
Hospital serving a total population of 198,512 people in South Cumbria. 

At Abbey View, most of the beds are used for people who need Step-Down care 
from Furness General, however sometimes people are ‘stepped-up’ from the 
Emergency Department. 

The Langdale units see a majority of Step-Ups as the wards are on the same site as 
the Kendal Urgent Treatment Centre and from referrals by local GPs. 

Similar to Langdales, Millom sees mostly Step-Ups with referrals from local GPs.     

32



Why are we talking about Step-Up and Step-Down Care? 
Older citizens are the highest users of health and social care. In Morecambe Bay, 
only 21% of the population are over 65 but account for 40% of emergency 
admissions and almost 70% of acute hospital bed days. Hospitals are under 
pressure from growing demand for their services and need to be able to use their 
resources to treat people who are acutely unwell.

In our Step-Up and Step-Down units the majority of admissions are older people. In 
a recent ward audit all patients were over 68 years of age with 63% of patients over 
85 years of age. In the month-long audit the units cared for 28 people aged between 
90 and 101. 

Often it is these service users who are well enough to go home but are waiting for 
the social support they need to be able to live and manage at home safely 
sometimes leading to very long stays. During the ward audit, 33% of patients were 
waiting for care packages, care home beds or changes to be made to their house 
such as grab rails and ramps. Often this was only a few days but sometimes they 
stayed nearly a month longer beyond the date where it was medically safe for them 
to go home.

To address this issue, the NHS Long Term Plan1 published in January 2019 makes a 
commitment to boosting out of hospital care including community-based crisis care 
and other services that will keep people in their homes and provide care closer to 
home. 

Since 2014 we have been working together to deliver care closer to home in 
Morecambe Bay through the Better Care Together Strategy, including:

 Integrated Care Communities – these are based around your GP practices 
where health and social care staff are connecting with fire and police services, 
charities and other local groups to identify the people who are at highest risk 
of being admitted to hospital and supporting them at home. 

 Integrated Rapid Response Service seeks to prevent hospital admission. 
Nurses, Occupational Therapists, Physiotherapists and support staff work with 
other organisations such as Social Workers and Domiciliary Care providers to 
care for people in their own homes. The teams look after patients who may 
have developed an infection, an existing condition has got worse, or who may 
have fallen and need some extra care in order to stay at home and regain 
their independence. These teams also work together to provide support to 
people who have been in hospital enabling them to go home earlier.

To make sure we are using our resources effectively and delivering the best care for 
our patients Morecambe Bay Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) requested an 
independent review of community beds in South Cumbria in 2017. This review 
included the Step-Up and Step-Down beds at Abbey View, Langdale and Millom.
The findings from this review were:

 The Langdale units have a layout like an acute hospital ward and don’t have 
facilities such as a kitchen or day room for Step-Up patients. These things 
create a homely feel and help people to make their own drinks and snacks, 

33



meaning they keep moving about and caring for themselves as much as 
possible. 

 58% of patients no longer required their Step-Up or Step-Down bed and were 
in the wrong place due to waiting for a care home place or services not being 
available that would support the person at home. 

 The units are not set up for people with mental health conditions like dementia 
or for people with little or no rehabilitation potential that need time to think or 
are waiting for adaptations to their home or a place in a care home. 

 During the review, 2 of the 5 inpatients at Millom no longer required a bed. 
One of these patients needed specialist mental health support that the ward 
couldn’t provide but stayed 97 days waiting for a specialist bed.   

Patient Experience
Patients give positive feedback after being admitted to Abbey View, Langdales and 
Millom which we capture as part of the Friends and Family Test.
Over three months, 79% of people said they were extremely likely to recommend our 
service to friends and family if they needed similar care or treatment and provided 
the following feedback: 

 “All staff are so friendly and caring”.
 “Wonderful attention and loving kindness from everyone all the time”.
 “Nursing staff are caring, extremely efficient and nothing is a trouble. Thank 

you all for kindness shown. The meals are excellent and the ward is pristine”.

Despite the good experiences people have on the Step-Up/down units, many of 
these people no longer needed to be in hospital.  On some of the units, there is lack 
of patient kitchen and day room facilities because the wards were originally set up as 
acute hospital wards and not rehabilitation wards. These are important features as 
doing normal day to day activities help people to retain their independence and 
strength. Up to 65 per cent of older patients’ abilities to do normal activities reduce 
while they are in hospital. Many of these patients could prematurely end up in a care 
home because they are unable to take care of themselves safely at home. 2 & 3 

The best bed is often your own bed. For some people a stay in hospital longer than 
10 days leads to 10 years of muscle ageing. If you are lying in bed for long periods of 
time and have reduced muscle strength it could increase your risk of falling or not 
being able to do the things that you enjoy. 

Other UK Care Models
Other health care systems around the UK have looked at their Step-Up/down care 
and used some of the following methods to deliver care in their area.

Bhowmick Innovation Model - Wales
This model is used in Torfaen and Anglesey in Wales, known locally as Torfaen 
Advanced Clinical Assessment Team (ACAT) and Mon Enhanced Care (MEC) in 
Anglesey. 

The teams in Wales introduced a model that: 
 Created a ‘hospital at home’ where patients stay in their own homes and 

receive care like they would on a hospital ward. People are cared for at home 
by Nurses and Care of the Elderly Consultants who have rapid access to tests 

34



like blood tests. Patients benefit from being in their own bed as it is more 
comfortable, pleasant and familiar for them. 

 Provides extra support so that people are not admitted to hospital or so that 
their admission is as short as possible. 

 Reduced premature admissions to care homes and improved health 
outcomes and greater independence for older people, meaning that they stay 
in their own home for longer. 

Results from Torfaen and Anglesey  
A review of both these services revealed that in the first year the ACAT team 
assessed 1208 patients with an age range of 49 – 100 years. The number of hospital 
admissions prevented as a result of the new service was 975, which was 
approximately 80% of referrals. 

Intermediate Care Allocation Team (ICAT) - Lancashire
ICAT is a service jointly paid for by Lancashire County Council and Morecambe Bay 
Clinical Commissioning Group. 
The ICAT service is delivered by health and social care services working in one team 
to:

 Prevent hospital admission. 
 Support early discharge from hospital 
 Carry out assessments to promote independence and avoid long term care.

When people are due to leave hospital, Doctors, Nurses, Physiotherapists and 
Occupational Therapists will assess what support the patient needs and refer them 
to ICAT to ensure the patient gets the right people to support their care. The support 
ICAT provides aims to speed up the recovery process and promote the individual’s 
ongoing health, wellbeing and independence.

Hub Model – North Cumbria 
North Cumbria has a population of 325,692. In 2017 they reduced the number of 
inpatient community beds down from 133 on eight sites to 104 on six sites. They also 
changed how they used the remaining beds, using some as day beds or to carry out 
pre-operation tests that require an overnight stay. They also developed Coordination 
Hubs in the community. These Hubs coordinate urgent requests for people who 
need support in their own home either to prevent an admission to hospital or giving 
care after leaving hospital. The Hubs have access to Nurses, Physiotherapists and 
Occupational Therapists with links to GPs in their area. Health staff are also trained 
to carry out social care assessments for the Council meaning that requests for care 
packages can be made at the same time.     

These are examples of how the Coordination Hub, Integrated Care Communities and 
Rapid Response work together to prevent admissions to hospital:

1. A person is unwell with reduced mobility and suspected urinary tract infection. 
During previous episodes they have been admitted to acute care for 8 -10 
days. Occupational Therapist, Nursing and Social Care support is sent to their 
home for 48hrs of care to keep them at home safely and avoid hospital 
admission.

2. A person has reached the palliative stage of illness and wishes to die at 
home. The patient is feeling sick, restless and extra pain control is needed for 

35



the patient along with care and support for the family. Call comes in to the 
Hub and care is provided from GP, community and health care teams at 
home.   

3. A person falls while at home and their next door neighbour calls an 
ambulance. Paramedic attends, while the patient has no injuries and is just a 
bit shaken; the paramedic is concerned about leaving them at home. They 
contact Community Hub who send an Occupational Therapist to provide 
therapy support and link with family, neighbours and voluntary groups to 
provide support with shopping and other activities.

North West Sussex - Spot Purchased Beds
For patients being discharged from hospital who need more overnight care than can 
be given in their own home, some areas provide short term beds in care homes. 
These beds give the patient more time to rehabilitate in their community and for 
health and social care staff, time to assess the person’s needs following an incident 
or illness which led to their admission to hospital. 

Sessional Beds
Sessional beds involves using ward beds differently. A patient might have a bed for a 
couple of hours to receive treatments such as IV antibiotics, blood transfusions, 
chemotherapy or tests before an operation such as blood tests or electrocardiogram 
(ECG) to reduce the amount of travelling they need to do. 

Benefits 
The benefit of these models is that care and support can be given either at home or 
closer to home meaning that visits and support from relatives and friends are easier 
and the person feels more connected as they are more familiar with the local 
surroundings. Being supported at home often leads to staying independent and 
doing the things that are important to you for longer and can be particularly helpful 
for someone with a diagnosis of dementia or Alzheimer’s who might feel happier and 
more in control in a familiar place and maintaining their routines.   

How can I get involved and share my views? 
We want to know what you think; it could be that one of these models would work for 
us in Morecambe Bay; it might be a mixture of them all or even something 
completely different.  

There are two ways to provide your ideas and feedback; via a survey either online or 
in paper copy [web address to be confirmed].

References
1 NHS Long Term Plan - https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/01/nhs-long-term-plan-june-2019.pdf
2 Guide to reducing long hospital stays, NHS Improvement, June 2018 
https://improvement.nhs.uk/documents/2898/Guide_to_reducing_long_hospital_stay
s_FINAL_v2.pdf, accessed on 2nd August 2019
3 Deconditioning awareness, British Geriatrics Society, 
https://www.bgs.org.uk/resources/deconditioning-awareness, accessed on 23rd July 
2019

36

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/nhs-long-term-plan-june-2019.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/nhs-long-term-plan-june-2019.pdf
https://improvement.nhs.uk/documents/2898/Guide_to_reducing_long_hospital_stays_FINAL_v2.pdf
https://improvement.nhs.uk/documents/2898/Guide_to_reducing_long_hospital_stays_FINAL_v2.pdf
https://www.bgs.org.uk/resources/deconditioning-awareness


Engagement Survey 
This survey is in two parts. Part One is your chance to tell us about how and where 
you would like to be cared for now and in the future and give your views about the 
care models described in this engagement document. Part Two is about your 
personal circumstances. You are not obliged to answer the questions in Part Two but 
if you are able to do so it would help us to better understand the range of people 
responding to the survey and whether we are capturing ideas from across South 
Cumbria.

Could you please begin by giving us your postcode omitting the last two letters? For 
example, if your postcode is LA14 4LF, enter “LA144”; if it is LA9 7RG, enter “LA97”)

My post code is: 

Part One
Question 1 Have you, a family member or a friend been admitted to either Abbey 
View or Langdales in the past 5 years?

Yes/No (If no, go to question 4)

Question 2 On a scale of 1-5 did you find the facilities available suitable to your 
needs 
    1    2    3   4    5

Question 3 Do you feel that you/ your friend or family member remained on the ward 
for the right amount of time? 

A) Not long enough 
B) About the right amount of time 
C) Too long 

Question 4 If you needed Step-up/Step-down care and treatment would you prefer 
this to be delivered at home, if it was delivered by the nurses, physios and 
occupational therapists that care for people on the ward?  

A) Yes
B) No
C) Maybe 

Question 5 If you needed to receive more intensive support, where would you prefer 
this to take place? 

A) In a hospital ward environment?
B) In a ward environment but with daily activities and facilities to make your own 

drinks or snacks 
C) In a care home for a short period of time?

37



Question 6 How would you prefer your care to be coordinated? 
A) By the hospital staff working with my family and GP 
B) By a ‘hub’ within my community working with my GP, Nurses, Physios, 

Occupational Therapists and Social Care services

Question 7 How would you normally travel to your local NHS hospital?

own car on foot public transport taken by friend taken by relative 

other

Question 8 Are there any further comments you would like to make 
A) Yes (link to free text box) 
B) No 

Question 9 Would you like to be further involved in how we shape this care in the 
future?
Yes
No

If yes- Please provide your contact details
A) Free type box 

Part Two
We would like to understand more about you so that we can be sure we have 
received responses from the range of different people in our diverse community and 
so that we can better understand the background to your responses (for example, 
where you live in relation to your nearest hospital or step-up/ step-down unit). You 
can help us by completing this part of the consultation questionnaire but completing 
this section is entirely voluntary.

Have you read the engagement document?  Yes No

Insert demographic questions

How do you think the options contained in this engagement document will 
particularly affect you?

Please cut out your completed questionnaire and send it to: 

38



Freepost address????
There is no need to use a stamp.
Please write this address on a single line without any other addressing details such 
as road, town or postcode. The address must be written using upper and lower case, 
exactly as above.

39



This page is intentionally left blank



Staff Engagement Survey 
This survey is your chance to tell us about how and where our patients would be 
best cared for now and in the future and give your views about the care models 
described in this engagement document. 

Part One
Could you please begin by telling us where you work? 

Step-up/ Step-down unit          Acute Ward – Medical Acute Ward – 
(Abbey View or Langdale North/South) Surgical

Primary Care  District Nursing  Community Therapies  Other 

Have you read the engagement document?  Yes No

Are our step-up/ step-down units the right environment for all our current cohort of 
patients?

Yes           No 

Could any of our patients have their needs better met elsewhere? 

Yes           No 

If yes, where might that be if we had either additional resources or a different type of 
care provision if we thought about beds without walls? 

At home  Rehabilitation Unit        Intermediate Care   Other 

Should we be looking at different cohorts of patients and step-up arrangements from 
the community and primary care to focus on admission prevention?  

Yes           No 

Other – please detail

Other – please detail

41



Do we need the same patient group or criteria in each unit?

All Step-up        All Step-down      Mix of Step-up/ Step-down

What workforce and skills might we need to deliver the care?

How do we make the best use of the resources we have (staff, environments and 
money).
 

Part Two
Insert demographic questions

How do you think the options contained in this engagement document will 
particularly affect you?

Please cut out your completed questionnaire and send it to: 
Freepost address????
There is no need to use a stamp.
Please write this address on a single line without any other addressing details such 
as road, town or postcode. The address must be written using upper and lower case, 
exactly as above.

42



Page 1 of 5

Acute and Specialised Services Portfolio

Stroke Programme 

Work Programme: Stroke Programme Position Statement Programme Director: Gemma Stanion

Programme Team: Elaine Day, Claire 
Kindness-Cartwright, Kaleigh Brewer

Clinical Lead: TBC

PERIOD OF REPORT August 2019

FOR INFORMATION AND DISCUSSION

August 2019 Position Statement 

Lancashire and South Cumbria Stroke Programme

1. Background
In May 2019 the Lancashire and South Cumbria Integrated Care System Board approved the clinical 
case for change, transforming the existing model of Acute Stroke Care and Community Stroke 
Rehabilitation to reduce unjustified variation in clinical services and workforce capacity.
As outlined in the NHS Long Term Plan, it is expected that Integrated Care Systems will take a lead on 
system-wide improvements in Stroke over the next 10 years.

1.1 Agreed Improvements
A single Lancashire and South Cumbria Continuous Improvement Plan has been developed, 
underpinned by Acute Trust plans, to address unjustified variation (measured by clinical indicators 
and workforce capability issues identified in their respective hospital settings).

The following clinically led improvements are now agreed and implementation planning has 
commenced for: 

 Ambulatory care pathways for minor stroke, transient ischaemic attack (TIA or ‘mini stroke’) and 
suspected stroke symptoms in Acute Trusts.

 Out of hospital and higher intensity community stroke rehabilitation will be delivered in 
partnership with voluntary organisations including the Stroke Association.

 Workforce skills have been mapped, and gaps will be analysed to determine shortfalls and how 
they need to be managed.

 Significantly enhance the provision of Psychological support after stroke, improve access to 
Orthoptics expertise and explore beneficial digital opportunities in line with nationally 
recommended guidance has also been agreed.

The need to implement Hyper-Acute Stroke Units (HASU) at an optimum number of sites is agreed, 
however the two sites initially identified have a number of challenges (including workforce and 
finance) to overcome before this can happen, and if a third site is indicated, this may take a 
significant amount of time to achieve. Further engagement with Local Authority Health Overview 

43

Agenda Item 11



Page 2 of 5

and Scrutiny Committees is needed, to ensure they are aware of the stage we have reached in the 
programme and identify any local challenges where a unit is not going to be available in the short 
term.

2. Current Position
This briefing provides some narrative, challenges, high level plans for the delivery and 
implementation for the improvements described above.

2.1 Ambulatory Care (AMBC) Implementation Plan
Stroke clinicians and clinical commissioners have identified and developed an ambulatory care model 
as a more sustainable model of hospital care appropriate for the population and geography of 
Lancashire and South Cumbria. This model is considered by leading stroke clinicians to be the most 
appropriate model, because it: 

 Prevents patients from being admitted unnecessarily
 Provides access to quicker assessment, diagnosis, appropriate treatment and rapid 

rehabilitation
 Refers patients onto more appropriate pathways, if needed e.g. TIA clinics, migraine etc.
 Allows patients to be treated as close to home as possible

 The model of care has been endorsed by the Stroke Programme Board and relevant sub-groups, and 
the   ICS Care Professionals Board, and implementation plans for phased implementation in each Trust 
are being developed. The financial impact of implementing this model at all sites is being worked up 
and will be shared with providers and commissioners for discussion and agreement.

2.2 Continuous Improvement Plans
All trusts have been making huge efforts to continuously improve their Acute Stroke services, despite    
significant challenges including workforce. When the Lancashire and South Cumbria Stroke 
Programme started its previous programme of work in January 2014, clinical indicators were a “sea 
of red”. The standard of Acute Stroke services across the area remains inconsistent, with unjustified 
variation in access, variations in timely treatment and access to rehabilitation services, and 
consequently variations in outcomes, depending on where you live.

However, clinicians and operational managers have developed their own Trust improvement plans to 
address local concerns and have worked together to develop a Lancashire and South Cumbria-wide 
improvement plan to address issues, which has introduced a culture of learning together and from 
each other.

2.3 Phased activation/implementation of Hyper-Acute Stroke Units (HASUs) Plan
Modelling has been undertaken for a number of possible Hyper Acute Stroke Unit configurations 
across Lancashire and South Cumbria. Regardless of the need to ensure equity of access to care as 
far as possible, the current workforce shortfall is significant and means that if more than two units 
are required, the workforce is not currently in place. Health Education England (HEE) and the 
universities are planning for an increase in staff for many clinical specialty areas, including stroke.

44



Page 3 of 5

The National Getting It Right First Time (GIRFT) team for stroke has undertaken peer review visits to 
all the stroke units in Lancashire and South Cumbria during the last year. The team has 
recommended that both the Royal Preston Hospital, due to its catchment / population size and co-
location of neurosciences and the Regional Thrombectomy Service, and the Royal Blackburn 
Hospital, due to its catchment / population size should proceed to become units as soon as possible. 
As this work progresses at both sites, we will ensure all stroke patients across the area have improved 
access to thrombolysis and, where appropriate, thrombectomy, and are able to access units where 
possible. 

 A long list of HASU site options has been produced, which will need to be put through an evaluation 
criteria process when appropriate to do so, to determine the optimum number of HASUs for 
Lancashire and South Cumbria. A system-wide transitional plan will need to be developed to support 
the changes and improvements required, which will be supported by the introduction of an 
Integrated Stroke Delivery Network (ISDN).

The implementation of units at Royal Preston Hospital and Royal Blackburn Hospital is reliant on 
workforce and financial agreement, implementation of the ambulatory care model, and effective 
integrated stroke rehabilitation teams being in place. These are currently in phased implementation. 
The financial impact of ambulatory care also still needs to be agreed by providers and 
commissioners. In the meantime, as part of continuous improvement, improved access to 
thrombolysis and mechanical thrombectomy will be prioritised.

2.4 Community Stroke Rehabilitation Teams Development Plan
The NHS Long Term Plan (published January 2019) supports our direction of travel for stroke 
services, including our mandate that every Acute Stroke Unit should have access to an integrated 
community specialist rehabilitation team which provides early intensive rehabilitation and ongoing 
therapy for up to six months, based on need and not criteria or discharge destination. 

Over the past 18 months, the stroke programme team has worked closely with stroke leads and 
commissioners in each of the CCGs to develop business cases for a consistent approach to 
implementing integrated stroke rehabilitation as part of the stroke patient pathway. During the first 
half of 2019, most CCGs have approved local business cases and will now introduce integrated stroke 
rehabilitation teams on a phased basis to support the ambulatory model and community care.

45



Page 4 of 5

  The table below demonstrates the current position in relation to each CCG’s business case:

ICP/CCG Business Case Due for Decision Outcome
Pennine Lancashire ICP
Blackburn with Darwen CCG
East Lancashire CCG

06/08/19
21/08/19

Not known at the 
time of writing

Central Lancashire ICP
Chorley & South Ribble CCG
Greater Preston CCG

27/03/19 & 28/03/19
Governing Body Meetings

Agreed

Fylde Coast ICP
Blackpool CCG
Fylde & Wyre CCG

26/03/19
Finance & Performance Committee

Agreed

Morecambe Bay ICP
Morecambe Bay CCG 21/05/19 

Governing Body
Agreed

West Lancashire ICP
West Lancashire CCG Oct/Nov 2019

Governing Body
Not known at the 

time of writing

2.5 Psychological Support after Stroke Development Plan
The need for Psychological Support in clinical pathways is recognised as best practice and vital for 
patient care and recovery. A proposal for a wider piece of work across the area to develop 
psychological support to clinical pathways is currently in development.  

2.6 Orthoptic Support
Visual impairment after stroke affects up to 60% of stroke patients and the services provided across 
Lancashire & South Cumbria are varied. Scoping and benchmarking of current services is in progress, 
a service evaluation template is being developed and will be utilised to provide a gap analysis against 
recommended national guidance.  

3.0 Summary/Next Steps
• Financial implications need finalising, with discussion and agreement between providers and 
commissioners, and any capital implications managed.
• Workforce gap analysis needs to be completed and a mitigation plan developed.
• Engagement and discussion with key stakeholders, particularly Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees, and Health and Wellbeing Boards to take place, focusing on implications for local 
populations. This may indicate that public consultation is required, which may create delays to 
some milestones.
• Options for the optimum number and sites for Hyper Acute Stroke Units will be evaluated to 
determine where the third HASU should be located, if one is required.

46



Page 5 of 5

• Royal Preston and Royal Blackburn sites will continue to move towards HASU status as soon as 
possible, dependent on workforce and finances.
• An Integrated Stroke Delivery Network (ISDN) proposal, supported by the Trusts and ICS Medical 
Directors, will be developed.
• Continuous improvement in Stroke, including implementation of the Ambulatory Care model, 
will continue to be monitored and supported through the ICS wide Strategic Stroke Improvement 
Group, reporting into the Stroke Programme Board
• Phased implementation of the Integrated Stroke Rehabilitation Teams in all Integrated Care 
Providers will be supported and monitored through the Stroke Rehabilitation sub-group, reporting 
into the Stroke Programme Board
• Diagnostics gap analysis to be completed and capital implications fed into the Estates Strategy 
and capital bids
• Benchmarking of current Orthoptist services and development of service evaluation, mapping of 
services against national standards and guidance
• Begin wider Psychology work, linking in with Health Education England and UCLAN

47



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Minutes
	8 Renal Dialysis Services in Lancashire and South Cumbria
	9 Update on Fragile Services at UHMB
	10 Reconfiguration of Community Beds within the acute hospitals
	Patient_Paper 0.10
	Engagement Survey 0.3
	Staff_Engage_Survey 0.4

	11 Strokes Services

